IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No. SC03-933

Lower Tribunal Case Nos. 4D00-4656 4D01-2389

JOHN J. RYAN, IV, ET AL.,

Petitioners,

v.
LEONOR LOBO DE GONZALEZ and
JORGE GONZALEZ,

Respondents.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF

GERALD F. RICHMAN, ESQUIRE
MANUEL A. GARCIA-LINARES, ESQUIRE
MARK A. ROMANCE, ESQUIRE
LALINE CONCEPCION-VELOSO, ESQUIRE
RICHMAN GREER WEIL BRUMBAUGH
MIRABITO & CHRISTENSEN, P.A.

Attorneys for Petitioners 10th Floor - Miami Center 201 S. Biscayne Boulevard Miami, FL 33131

Telephone: (305) 373-4000 Facsimile: (305) 373-4099

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

Petitioners, John Ryan, IV, Victoria Ryan, Carolina Ryan Camperio and Alin Ryan Smith (the "children"), and Robert Nall, as personal representative of the Estate of Julio Lobo Olabarria, appeal the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal that (1) affirmed the trial court's final summary judgment order which found that every claim for relief in Petitioners' Second Amended Complaint was barred by the statute of limitations, and (2) reversed the trial court's order denying Respondents' Motion for Sanctions/Fees and Costs Based on Proposal for Settlement, ruling that the trial court abused its discretion when it held that Respondents' \$100 proposals for settlement were not made in good faith.

B. THE FACTS AND THE PROCEDURAL HISTORY OF THE CASE

In 1957, Julio Lobo formed Chiriqui, a Panamanian corporation, to purchase the Hershey Sugar Corporation and its affiliated group of companies, Rosario Sugar Company and Compañía Azucarera Gomez-Mena from the Cuban Atlantic Sugar Corporation. (R.633). The Chiriqui shares were represented by bearer stock certificates. (J. Gonzalez 6/16/99 depo. at p.38). The three properties, located in Cuba, consisted of vast agricultural lands, three mills and the largest refinery on

1

Because the Hershey Corporation was one of the main Chiriqui assets, the parties often refer to the Chiriqui shares as the Hershey shares and use the terms interchangeably.

the island, with an integrated railroad system linking the three mills (the "Hershey properties"). (R.633). Even today, the Hershey properties are the "show-case" sugar properties in Cuba. (R.994-96). Julio Lobo purchased the Hershey properties for \$25 million. (R.633).

To finance part of his purchase, Julio Lobo obtained a \$9 million loan from First National City Bank ("City Bank") and pledged the Chiriqui shares and its underlying properties as collateral. (R.633). Due to the Cuban government's confiscation of his Cuban assets, Julio Lobo could not service the City Bank loan which resulted in a default. (R.990-92). At the request of their father, to protect him from default, save his good name and preserve the shares of the Hershey properties, his two daughters, Maria Luisa and Leonor, agreed to assume a portion of the Chiriqui debt. (Maria Luisa 10/3/96 depo. at p.20; J. Gonzalez 6/16/99 depo. at p.41).² The debt was actually assumed by the Moorings Development Company ("Moorings"), a Florida real estate development company financed and controlled by Julio Lobo but nominally owned by his daughters. (Maria Luisa 10/3/96 depo. at pp.22-24). Pursuant to an October 1963 Modification and Extension Agreement orchestrated by Julio Lobo, the daughters caused the

The deposition transcripts are included in the record but the Clerk did not give them specific page numbers. Therefore, the deposition transcripts cited herein are referred to by the deponent's name followed by the date of the deposition (if the deposition took place on more than one day), followed by the page number.

Moorings to assume \$3.7 million of the Chiriqui debt to City Bank, and secured the debt with a \$3.7 million note to City Bank and a pledge of 100% of the shares of the Moorings. (Maria Luisa 10/3/96 depo. at pp.21-22). In turn, the Moorings received a \$3.7 million note from Chiriqui. (J. Gonzalez 6/16/99 depo. at p.41).

Although Respondents suggest that the Chiriqui shares had no value after the Cuban government's appropriation of the Cuban assets, the undisputed facts, including the testimony of Respondents' own witnesses, leave no doubt that the Chiriqui shares continued to have substantial value. For example, in 1980, the Moorings' outside accountant, John Groh, one of Respondents' witnesses, explained to the IRS that there was a market for Cuban sugar mill properties which were actively traded in the United States, roughly tracking the discounted rate of the defaulted Cuban debt, trading between 10 to 40%. (Groh depo. at p.104, referencing pages 18-19 of Exh. 56 to Leonor depo.). Mr. Groh wrote this letter to justify that the Chiriqui shares were valued at over \$7 million in 1963. *Id.* Active trading of shares of Cuban sugar mills has continued from the 1960s to today, which means that the shares of Chiriqui would have had a value of several million dollars throughout the 1960s, 1970s, and 1980s. (J. Gonzalez 6/16/99 depo. at p.42) and 3/7/00 depo. at pp.9-13; Groh depo. at p.104). Moreover, the Hershey Sugar Corporation owned the Hershey trademark, which was sold to Hershey of Pennsylvania in 1968, with Julio Lobo receiving in excess of \$100,000 from the sale. (J. Gonzalez 1/26/00 depo. at p.48).

Even now, the Chiriqui shares are valuable. On March 22, 2000, the Cuban government hosted representatives of United States sugar interests for a five-day visit at the Hershey Sugar Mill, renamed Camilo Cienfuegos by the Cuban government. Present were representatives of several multinational entities who met with Cuba's ministers of foreign trade and sugar. (R.994-97). The Cuban government's representatives touted the Hershey properties to the visiting multinationals as a possible foreign investment project, which clearly demonstrates that the Chiriqui lands are valuable assets.

At the time of Chiriqui's 1963 note to the Moorings, Chiriqui had no cash flow to pay the debt due to the prior confiscation by the Cuban Government of the underlying Hershey properties. (Leon 5/10/00 depo. at pp.43-45). As expected, Chiriqui never made **any** principal or interest payments on the note to the Moorings and defaulted. (R.990-92). Two letters written by the Moorings' president to Julio Lobo, one in 1965 and the other in 1966, each purported to inform Julio Lobo that the Moorings seized the collateral – thus there were **two** alleged "seizures" of the same collateral. *Id*.

It is undisputed that subsequent to the purported "seizures," the Moorings never took any steps to perfect the seizure or cancel the share certificates and have

them re-issued in the Moorings' name. (R.998). The Moorings never notified Chiriqui's registered agent or its directors of the change in ownership. *Id.* No Chiriqui corporate filings were made and no government taxes or resident agent fees were paid in Panama since the 1960s. *Id.* Indeed, the officers and directors of Chiriqui, who were all Panamanian residents, were not aware that the shares had been seized by the Moorings and that the ownership had changed until approximately March 14, 1996, when Leonor first filed corporate papers in Panama asserting a 100% ownership interest in Chiriqui. *Id.*

Importantly, the Moorings never listed the Chiriqui shares as an asset on any of its audited consolidated financial statements. (Groh depo. at pp.62-64, 115-17, 152). Despite the fact that U.S. income tax returns require disclosure of ownership in a foreign corporation, the Moorings federal tax returns affirmatively represent that the Moorings did not own the shares of a foreign corporation. (Groh depo. at pp.62-64, 152).

The Moorings never informed Maria Luisa of the purported seizure of Chiriqui or that Chiriqui had been acquired by the Moorings and was now an asset of the corporation. (Maria Luisa 10/3/96 depo. at p.44). Furthermore, Maria Luisa never received any financial statements from the Moorings reflecting that the Moorings owned the Chiriqui shares because the Moorings never listed the Chiriqui shares as an asset on its financial statements. (*Id.*; J. Gonzalez 1/27/00

depo. at p.253; Groh depo. at pp.62-63). Because no document provided to Maria Luisa indicated to the contrary, at all times Maria Luisa believed that the shares were actually still owned by her father, Julio Lobo. (Maria Luisa 10/3/96 depo. at p.38).

In about 1967, the Moorings began to operate independently of Julio Lobo despite his protests, and Julio Lobo was totally removed from control in the Moorings. Julio Lobo contacted attorneys in Miami and contemplated taking action to assert his interests. Julio Lobo did not, however, take action against his daughters because they reached an agreement in 1972 that the Chiriqui shares would be returned to him "at the appropriate time." (R.1000). This agreement was memorialized in a memo prepared by Enrique Leon. (R.1000-01). Mr. Leon was the primary attorney for Julio Lobo in Cuba from 1945 through 1960, and served Julio Lobo following their exile as an advisor from 1960 through 1973. (Leon 5/10/00 depo. at pp.7-12). Documents created thereafter reveal that the parties expected the shares to be returned to Julio Lobo in the future. For example, in 1973, Leonor's husband and then President of the Moorings, Jorge Gonzalez, confirmed in draft letters his understanding that the shares would be returned to Julio Lobo. (J. Gonzalez 1/26/00 depo. pp.119-23; 129-38, referring to Exhs. 17 and 21 to Leonor depo.). Moreover, as late as 1975, Julio Lobo indicated in writing that he still expected his daughters to return the Chiriqui shares to him at

the appropriate time. (J. Gonzalez 1/28/00 depo. at pp.343-44 and Exh. 14). Respondents have not offered any documents after this 1975 letter to suggest that Julio Lobo believed otherwise and that the shares would not be returned to him.

In 1971, Respondent Jorge Gonzalez was appointed President of a related company, The Moorings Development Company of Canada Ltd. ("Canadian Moorings"), which was also equally owned by Maria Luisa and Leonor. (R.636-933). Although Maria Luisa did not know it at the time Jorge Gonzalez was named president, this company's corporate documents provided that the president held the tie-breaking vote on corporate matters in the event of a shareholder deadlock. (J. Gonzalez 3/7/00 depo., Exh. 19). From that date forward, Leonor had effective control of the Canadian Moorings, a fact that Leonor often reiterated. (Maria Luisa 10/3/96 depo. at pp. 35-36; Victoria Ryan 2/3/00 depo. at pp.14-17).

In 1977, the Canadian Moorings and the Moorings merged in a "downstream merger" wherein the Moorings was the surviving company. (J. Gonzalez 3/7/00 depo., Exh. 18). As part of the merger process, Jorge Gonzalez sought to have the Moorings' corporate documents amended to provide him with the tie-breaking vote. *Id.* Although this amendment never occurred, Leonor and Jorge Gonzalez continued to inform Maria Luisa that they were in control of the Moorings. (Victoria Ryan depo. at pp. 14-17). In fact, in the late 1970s, Maria Luisa, as 50% shareholder, attempted to have a representative appointed to the board of directors.

It took over one year for her to have a director appointed to represent her interests. (Maria Luisa 10/3/96 depo. at pp.35-36; J. Gonzalez 3/7/00 depo. at pp.139-40). Until she redeemed her interest in the Moorings, Maria Luisa believed that Leonor controlled the Moorings through a tie-breaking vote held by her husband Jorge Gonzalez. (Victoria Ryan depo. at p.14-17).

In December 1980, as a result of financial and emotional problems and because of her belief that she had only minority control in the Moorings, Maria Luisa negotiated with Leonor and Jorge Gonzalez for the redemption of her interest in the Moorings. John Taylor Bigbie, an attorney licensed to practice in New York but residing in London, represented Maria Luisa during the negotiations. (R.553). Maria Luisa also received some limited advice in negotiating a suitable price from Gilberto Arias, a Panamanian attorney and the director she had finally named to the Board to represent her interests, and guidance from her stepfather, Manuel Angel Gonzalez Del Valle, an elderly architect who did not speak fluent English. (Maria Luisa 10/3/96 depo. at p.43; J. Gonzalez 1/27/00 depo. at pp.257-58).

Mr. Bigbie stated in a sworn affidavit that the Chiriqui shares were never disclosed as an asset of the Moorings and that the only properties of the Moorings which were disclosed to him and used as a basis for the valuation of the Moorings for purposes of calculating Maria Luisa's 50% interest in the Moorings were

development lands owned by the Moorings in Vero Beach, Florida. (R.553-56). Mr. Bigbie further stated that no reference was ever made, either oral or written, to the existence of any subsidiaries or corporations owned by the Moorings which owned properties in Cuba. *Id.*

In exchange for redeeming her shares, the Moorings transferred to Maria Luisa several tracts of land, which she sold for approximately \$1.8 million. (R.553-56).

In 1984, four years after the sale of Maria Luisa's 50% interest in the Moorings, Leonor sold her entire 100% ownership in the Moorings at a substantially increased price. (J. Gonzalez 1/27/00 depo. at p.224). Shortly before the sale, however, Leonor and Jorge Gonzalez removed the Chiriqui shares from the premises of the Moorings. Leonor and Jorge Gonzalez concealed this fact from Maria Luisa and never disclosed the existence of the shares to the buyer. (J. Gonzalez 1/27/00 depo. at pp.269, 278). It is undisputed that Leonor never offered Maria Luisa 50% percent of the shares and that she never advised Maria Luisa that she was claiming **any** interest in the shares, much less 100% interest, until 1996.

The record is undisputed that prior to 1996, Leonor never asserted publicly or otherwise that she owned 100% interest in the Chiriqui shares. Rather, in her deposition, Leonor testified that she publicly announced at a 1996 meeting of the

Asociacion Nacional de Hacendadados de Cuba that she owned **50%** percent of the shares:

- Q. When did you first learn of that organization?
- A. I can't tell you the year, but I do remember getting a call from a young man called Nick Gutierrez. He called me up and he said: Why don't you start getting involved and coming to Meetings? And I said: I can't get involved in coming to meetings because my sister and I are in total disagreement. And he said: But you can come anyway; and since you're 50/50, you can vote or whatever do whatever for your 50 percent. And that's how I went, and that's I didn't pretend to be speaking for both of us. When they said, "50 percent," I raised my hand and I said: Yes, I have 50 percent of my father's things.
- Q. You never said that you had a hundred percent with regard to the Hershey stock?
- A. Never. This is outright fabrication, never.
- Q. So you were acknowledging in 1996 that you personally owned 50 percent and your sister owned the other 50 percent, correct?
- A. Yeah. This is nineteen what?
- Q. **1996.**
- A. **1996**, yeah.

(Leonor depo. at pp. 395-97) (Emphasis added).

Leonor made no attempt to publicly manifest her complete ownership rights over Chiriqui or otherwise notify Maria Luisa of her hostile claim to 100% of the shares prior to 1996. (Leonor depo. at p.396).

Julio Lobo died in 1983 in Spain, and his estate was never probated due to the fact that his assets and properties all remained in Cuba, except for personal effects which were distributed informally following his death. (J. Gonzalez 1/27/00 depo. at pp.304-05). In or about 1991, Petitioner John Ryan, IV, who is

Julio Lobo's grandson and one of the children of Maria Luisa and who is an attorney admitted in Florida and New York but residing in Switzerland, requested Enrique Leon to prepare an affidavit which would serve to leave a record of the properties owned by Julio Lobo in Cuba. (John Ryan, IV, 3/17/00 depo. at pp.95-96). Mr. Leon's affidavit sets forth the detailed inventory of all the industrial assets of Julio Lobo and was prepared with the sole purpose of serving as legal proof of asset ownership in future indemnification and restitution proceedings in Cuba. (Leon 5/10/00 depo. at p.104).

As part of this process, Leonor met with Mr. Leon in December 1995 to discuss the execution of the affidavit. (J. Gonzalez 3/7/00 depo. at p.235). At that meeting, Mr. Leon inquired as to the whereabouts of the Hershey shares and mentioned that those shares should be divided equally between the two sisters, at which point Leonor refused to respond, evaded the question, and terminated the meeting. (J. Gonzalez 3/7/00 depo. at pp.235-36; Enrique Leon 5/10/00 depo. at pp.128-30). It is undisputed that Leonor did not claim 100% ownership interest in Chiriqui at that meeting. (Leon 5/10/00 depo. at pp.129-30).

A draft affidavit prepared by Mr. Leon, which was circulated to Leonor and Maria Luisa, included the Chiriqui shares as an asset of Julio Lobo. (Enrique Leon 5/10/00 depo. at pp.126-30). Leonor did not object to listing the Chiriqui shares as

one of Julio Lobo's assets, and did not assert or disclose any position that she owned the shares outright.

The affidavit was finally executed in 1997 by Enrique Leon after extensive consultations with both Leonor and Maria Luisa. (Enrique Leon 5/10/00 depo. at p.131). Despite the fact that Chiriqui was prominently listed in the affidavit that was to be used in the future to recover the properties for the Estate, Leonor never advised Mr. Leon that she claimed a 100% ownership interest in Chiriqui and its underlying Cuban properties until after the affidavit had been completed, in a letter dated August 26, 1997. (Leon 5/10/00 depo. at pp.133, 138-39, 143-44).

In 1996, on the eve of the passage of the Cuban Liberty and Democratic Solidarity Act (referred to as the Helms Burton Act), 22 U.S.C.A. § 6081, John Ryan, IV, began to discuss with Leonor a unification of the families and resolution of any prior disputes. One of the issues discussed was holding Cuban properties through U.S. Corporations in order to benefit from the provisions of the Helms Burton Act. Prior to 1996, nothing had been done to transfer the Chiriqui shares and put them in Leonor's name or anyone else's name. (J. Gonzalez 3/8/00 depo. at p.262). During the time that John Ryan, IV, was searching for the whereabouts of the Chiriqui shares to have them transferred to a U.S. corporation for the entire family to benefit from the Helms Burton Act, Leonor affirmatively told Mr. Ryan that she was "looking into matters" and "would not do anything to harm" the

Ryans' interests. (J. Gonzalez 3/8/00 depo. at pp.266-306 and Exhibits referred to therein). In fact, in a letter from Leonor to John Ryan, IV, dated March 13, 1996, Leonor stated:

Notwithstanding, rest assured that my delay is not due to 'lack of interest' on my part, and that I have no intention in damaging you or your sisters' interest in any way. As soon as I am in a position to talk to you I will do so, hoping we can yet find an amicable solution to our problems.

(Leonor depo., Exh. 75). Despite her representations to the contrary, **the day after sending the letter** to John Ryan, IV, Leonor filed a public document at the Panama Registry claiming to be the 100% owner of Chiriqui and transferred her interest in the Chiriqui shares to a Florida corporation. (J. Gonzalez 3/8/00 depo. at pp.282-83; Leonor depo. at p.409 and Exh. 70). Leonor did not disclose these filings to Maria Luisa, Mr. Leon, or Petitioners. *Id.* Obviously, this process was well underway prior to her March 13th letter to John Ryan, IV.

Shortly thereafter, in April 1996, Petitioners for the first time became aware that Leonor was claiming a 100% interest in Chiriqui. (Carolina Ryan depo. at pp.25, 29). Petitioners subsequently filed suit against Leonor and Jorge Gonzalez to recover one half of the Chiriqui shares. The Second Amended Complaint asserted eight counts. The Estate asserted a claim for a constructive trust in its favor for 100% of the Chiriqui shares, alleging that the Moorings held the Chiriqui shares in trust for Julio Lobo (count I). The children asserted a claim for a

constructive trust in their favor for 50% of the Chiriqui shares, alleging that Maria Luisa was not aware when she sold her 50% interest in the Moorings that she was also selling her interest in the Chiriqui shares because Leonor and Jorge Gonzalez misrepresented that the assets of the Moorings did not include the Chiriqui shares (count II). Based on these allegations, the children also asserted a claim for breach of fiduciary duty and for negligent misrepresentation (counts IV and VII). Alternatively, the children sought reformation of the documents dealing with Maria Luisa's sale of her interests in the Moorings, arguing that the parties' never intended to include the Chiriqui shares in the transaction (count III). The children further sought a declaratory judgment that they are 50% owners of Chiriqui (count V). The Estate sought a declaratory judgment that it owns 100% of Chiriqui (count VI). The children and the Estate sought a permanent injunction preventing Leonor from selling the Chiriqui shares (counts VIII and IX).

In their Answer to Petitioners' Second Amended Complaint, Respondents asserted that the statute of limitations barred Petitioners' claims. (R.943). However, Petitioners affirmatively alleged in their Second Amended Complaint that the statute of limitations was inapplicable because it did not begin to run until 1996, when Leonor first announced that she was the sole owner of the shares. (R.641). Alternatively, Petitioners also affirmatively alleged in their Second Amended Complaint that if in fact the statute of limitations had expired,

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