IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No. SC03-933

Lower Tribunal Case Nos. 4D00-4656

4D01-2389

JOHN J. RYAN, IV, ET AL.,

Petitioners,

v.

LEONOR LOBO DE GONZALEZ and JORGE GONZALEZ,

Respondents.

ANSWER BRIEF

GEORGE H. MOSS, II CASEY WALKER Moss, Henderson, Blanton, Lanier, Kretschmer & Murphy, P.A. 817 Beachland Boulevard Vero Beach, FL 32963

Attorneys for Appellees

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

As the Fourth District noted, it did not read *S.A.P.* to work a "drastic[]" change in the law of equitable estoppel. *Ryan*, 841 So. 2d at 519 n. 5. As Judge Gross noted in his special concurrence, the extension of equitable estoppel to cases involving the concealment of a cause of action "would push equitable estoppel beyond its application in any other Florida case." *Id.* at 525.

Accordingly, the concurrence stated that "[w]e therefore conclude that *S.A.P.* is

not an extension of the law, but a case that is limited to the unique cause of action there at issue." *Id*.

A close reading of *S.A.P.* supports the Fourth District's interpretation of the case. The *S.A.P.* Court did not explain that it was extending or changing the doctrine as it has historically been understood. Indeed, the focus of the opinion is not upon the prerequisites of the equitable estoppel doctrine *per se*, but instead upon the question of whether Florida's waiver of sovereign immunity is broad enough to allow equitable estoppel to be asserted against it like any other defendant. *Id.* at 1094.

The order under review in *S.A.P.* was one granting a motion to dismiss.

Moreover, the equitable estoppel issue was not raised until the respondent's answer brief was filed with this Court. *Id.* at 110 n. 20, Harding, J., dissenting).

As this Court wrote, the review was "limited to the allegations contained in the complaint." *S.A.P.* 835 So. 2d at 1100. Based on this "limited" review, this Court pointed out that its holding was "narrow[]." *Id*.

As a result, this Court's application of the doctrine to the facts of that case was not fully developed. The Court pointed out, for example, that it did "not address the question of whether any <u>other</u> considerations may operate to restrict the use of equitable estoppel in [the] case." *Id.* at 1100. (Emphasis added).

Compounding the lack of factual and legal development of the equitable estoppel issue in *S.A.P*, is that the case is a child abuse case involving repressed memories. Specifically, the case involved "serious acts of sustained, long-term child abuse" in which the plaintiff and her sister had been "bruised over their entire bodies, burned, beaten, choked, [and] malnourished." *Id*.

The Plaintiff in *S.A.P.* alleged that the "trauma and abuse which she endured caused her to lose any active memory of the events in question." *Id.* Because *S.A.P.* was a 1995 case, however, she lacked the benefit of the legislature's 1999 amendment of § 95.11(7), Florida Statutes, allowing for the delayed accrual of torts based on child abuse.

In a case presenting similar difficulties, *Hearndon v. Graham*, 767 So. 2d 1179 (Fla. 2000), this Court held that the delayed discovery doctrine could apply to the case despite the refusal of the legislature to write such an exception into the statutes. Despite the broad language of that opinion, which suggested that a judicial "delayed discovery" doctrine was applicable to all Florida causes of action whether or not the legislature had provided for one, this Court later made it clear that *Hearndon* was limited to its unique facts. *Davis v. Monahan*, 832 So. 2d 708, 712 (Fla. 2002).

As noted in the concurrence, the example of *Hearndon* should guide the

reconciliation of *S.A.P.* with the Fourth District's decision in this case. *Ryan*, 841 So. 2d at 525, (Gross, J., concurring). Despite broad suggestion to the contrary, *S.A.P.* does not explicitly purport to change or extend the clear law of equitable estoppel, which requires a plaintiff to be aware of his cause of action.

Nor should it. In 1974 the Legislature made it clear when Florida causes of action accrue when it enacted Fla. Stat. § 95.031 which provides that "a cause of action accrues when the last element constituting the cause of action occurs." The statute also provides that statutes of limitation begin to run on a Florida cause of action when they "accrue." *Id.* The "obvious purpose" of the statute was to make "more precise the dates on which various causes of action accrued." *Moorey v. Eytchison & Hoppes, Inc.*, 338 So. 2d 558, 559 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1976). The statute does not include any exception for "fraudulent concealment" or "delayed discovery," and as such all Florida causes of action accrue when the "last act" occurs, and all limitations periods begin to run at that time. Fla. Stat. § 95.031.

Given the foregoing allegations of delayed discovery or fraudulent concealment can only toll limitations periods or delay accrual where there is a specific statutory authorization such as in fraud, malpractice or other actions.

Davis, 832 So. 2d at 709-710. Other examples are securities fraud [§95.11(4)(e)], professional malpractice [§95.11(4)(a)], medical malpractice [§95.11(4)(b)], actions

for personal injury relating to herbicide exposure while serving in the armed forces from 1962 through 1975 [§95.11(4)(g)], intentional torts based on abuse [§95.11(7)], and actions involving latent defects in real property [§95.11(3)(c)].

To extend the doctrine of equitable estoppel to encompass fraudulent concealment cases would be to obliterate Fla. Stat. § 95.031. As pointed out in the *Ryan* concurrence, it would also be to overrule *sub silentio* the very recent case of *Davis v. Monahan, supra*. which clarified that the delayed discovery doctrine can only delay the accrual of a cause of action where it is specifically provided by statute. *Ryan*, 841 So. 2d at 526, (Gross, J., concurring). As Judge Gross noted, "it is unlikely that the supreme court narrowed the delayed discovery doctrine in *Davis* on November 7, 2002, only to have it subsumed by equitable estoppel on November 27, 2002 in *S.A.P.*" *Id.*

The children's claim of equitable estoppel cannot prevail. The trial court and the District Court of Appeal correctly found that Maria Luisa could not invoke the equitable estoppel doctrine due to her claim that she was unaware of her cause of action until 1996, 16 years after the 1980 redemption of her shares in the Moorings. The summary judgment should therefore be affirmed.

2. The children fail to show that the "last act" of their causes of action occurred in 1996.

As an alternative to their equitable estoppel argument, the children say that the "last act" of their causes of action was actually not until 1996. This "last act" theory is fatally inconsistent with their pleadings, however, which unequivocally assert causes of action arising in 1980, 16 years before:

37. On December 10, 1980, due to her poor financial and emotional condition, relying on the above information and the fiduciary duty of [defendants], . . . [Maria Luisa] sold her 50% interest to [Leonor].

* * *

44a. On When the Moorings redeemed [her] 50% shareholding in the Moorings in 1980, the Moorings did not disclose in any financial statutes, disclosure document, or any other materials, that the Moorings owned the Chiriqui shares and that in signing the redemption agreement, [Maria Luisa] would be giving up her rights to the Chiriqui shares.

* * *

59. [Leonor] breached [her] fiduciary duties to [Maria Luisa] and abused [her] confidential and fiduciary relationship, [and] failed to disclose the alleged ownership of the Chiriqui stock by The Moorings and misrepresented the assets of The Moorings to induce [Maria Luisa] to sell her 50% interest

* * *

At the time of [Leonor's] sale of The Moorings in 1984, [Leonor] carefully concealed from [Maria Luisa] the fact that the Chiriqui shares had been excluded from the sale and transferred directly to [Leonor].

(R. 631-709). On the state of the pleadings in this case, there is simply no basis to locate the "last act" giving rise to the children's claims in 1996.

All of the children's causes of action describe an alleged wrong occurring in 1980. They depend on Leonor and/or the Moorings "inducing" Maria Luisa's 1980 sale, and Maria Luisa's reliance on alleged fraudulent conduct in that sale. They also depend on Leonor's "intent to defraud" Maria Luisa in 1980. This in turn would require that Leonor believe the Moorings owned the Chiriqui bearer shares and that she would gain exclusive right to them after the sale in 1980.

This is further confirmed by the children's constructive trust and other counts that are based on a breach of fiduciary duty which itself did not exist after 1980. Since it is undisputed that the sisters Leonor and Maria Luisa were not close, but indeed had a "longstanding sibling rivalry," the only basis for the children's claim that Leonor had a fiduciary duty to Maria Luisa was their status as co-shareholders in the Moorings. (R. 637-39, 651). In a similar vein, Jorge's supposed fiduciary duty to Maria Luisa resulted from his position as President of the Moorings during the time she was a shareholder. (R. 636, 651).

Consistent with this theory, the children said that it was the "fiduciary duty of [Leonor] and [Jorge] to disclose that the Chiriqui shares were part of the redemption agreement" in 1980. (R. 641). Their alleged failure to make this

disclosure in 1980 was the basis for the childrens' claims throughout their general allegations.

These general allegations were specifically reincorporated into the counts the children now seek to revive. (R. 649). On top of that, the constructive trust count specifically stated that it was based on the 1980 redemption:

59. As described herein, GONZALEZ and JORGE GONZALEZ breached their fiduciary duties to LOBO and abused their confidential and fiduciary relationship, failed to disclose the alleged ownership of the Chiriqui stock by The Moorings and misrepresented the assets of The Moorings to induce LOBO to sell her 50% interest in The Moorings to GONZALEZ.

(R. 649). Given the state of the record, no 1996 last act theory can be harmonized with the claims the children put before the trial court.

If the children had truly taken the position that the last act giving rise to their causes of action happened in 1996, there would have been no need to claim that Defendants committed fraud or negligent misrepresentation in 1980, no need to accuse them of breaching fiduciary duties in 1980, and no need to ask that the 1980 redemption documents be reformed to account for the Chiriqui bearer shares.

There would have been no need to name Jorge Gonzalez as a party, either, since there is no claim that he had any role in any of the 1996 events the children now complain about.

The children's 1996 last act theory cannot succeed on appeal where it is inconsistent with and undermined by the theories pled and litigated below. The summary judgment should therefore be affirmed.

3. Summary judgment as to the children was correct on the alternative basis that Maria Luisa is charged with knowledge of documents showing the Moorings owned the Chiriqui bearer shares since 1968.

Although summary judgment against the children was proper for the foregoing reasons, it was proper on alternative grounds, as well. Specifically, as a shareholder and director of the Moorings at all material times, Maria Luisa was as a matter of law charged with the knowledge of corporate acts and records reflecting that the Moorings claimed ownership of the Chiriqui bearer shares at the time of the Hershey trademark sale in 1968, and at the time she sold her interest in 1980. Whigham v. Muehl, 500 So. 2d 1374 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987). Given that all of the children's claims are predicated on her not having such knowledge, they fail as a matter of law.

As set forth above, the Moorings lay claim to the Chiriqui bearer shares not later than 1968, when it negotiated the sale of Chiriqui's only marketable asset, the Hershey trademark. During these negotiations, which marked the palace revolution that divested Julio of control over the Moorings and the Chiriqui bearer shares,

Maria Luisa was the designated recipient of multiple corporate correspondence regarding the Moorings' claim to the Chiriqui bearer shares.

The first of these was the Avery Letter on March 28, 1968. In that letter, Moorings' attorney Martin Avery told Maria Luisa that after the sale of the Hershey trademark, the "Moorings [would be] allowed to retain, for whatever they are worth, the rights to the Cuban lands which were the basis of Hershey's Cuban property tax loss." (Avery 4/21/99 depo., Pls.' Ex. 2).

Maria Luisa was also the designated recipient of the May 18, 1968 Link Letter, in which the President of the Moorings gave her the same information. Specifically, Link indicated that she "would be glad to know that our arrangements provide for [the Moorings] retaining all rights, title and interest whatsoever it might be to your Hershey property in Cuba. *Id.* at Def. Ex. 5.

Further confirming the Moorings' ownership of Chiriqui is Maria Luisa's own ratification of the Moorings' 1968 Hershey trademark sale. That ratification occurred when she signed and initialed the same board minutes that documented the sale. *Id.* at Def. Ex. 7; (Maria Luisa 10/4/99 depo. at 12-13, Ex. G-4).

In addition to the manifestation of ownership inherent in the Moorings' act of selling assets belonging to Chiriqui, the undisputed fact as that the Moorings' claim was hostile to Julio, who opposed the sale. (Avery 4/21/99 depo., Pls.' Ex. 21).

Further documenting the Moorings' ownership of the Chiriqui bearer shares was the Groh Report. In August of 1980, the Groh Report was requested by, sent to, and received by Maria Luisa's hand-picked director and advisor in the sale, Yale-educated lawyer Gilberto Arias. (Avery 4/20/99 depo., Def. Ex 12, p.3).

The Groh Report is explicit that the Moorings retained all rights to the Cuban lands belonging to Chiriqui which had been nationalized by Fidel Castro. *Id.* at Def. Ex. 11, p. 17. The Groh Report was dated ten (10) months before Maria Luisa's 1980 sale, and confirmed that after the Moorings' seizure of the Chiriqui bearer shares:

[t]he Florida companies and Moorings of Canada [predecessors to the Moorings] retained all of the rights, benefits and proceeds attaching to or resulting from the Chiriqui Pledge Agreement, the Chiriqui collateral and the Hershey Guaranty (effectively all of the assets in Cuba purchased for \$24,500,000 on December 31, 1957).

(Maria Luisa depo., Ex. G-7).

Mr. Arias acknowledged receiving the Groh Report in a letter dated August 21, 1980. That letter thanked Jorge Gonzalez "for the 23-page letter-report by the Moorings auditor, John H. Groh, to the I.R.S. on February 20, 1980." (Avery 4/20/99 depo., Def. Ex. 12, p. 3).

It is not necessary for a court to evaluate the credibility of any denial by

Maria Luisa that she was aware of these documents. Given her status as a director of the Moorings, "it is elementary that [she was] charged with full knowledge of the conduct of the affairs of the corporation . . . and [she] cannot be heard to say that [she had] nothing to do with the management of the business." *Whigham*, 500 So. 2d at 1378. (Internal cites and quotations omitted).

These corporate records and acts show that the Moorings claimed ownership of the Chiriqui bearer shares from 1968 until she sold her interest in 1980. As a result, all of her claims (and therefore the children's claims) must fail because they are based on her claimed ignorance of the true facts. The trial court's summary judgment was proper on these grounds as well and should be affirmed.

4. Summary judgment against the Estate was proper because the Estate fails to establish that its cause of action accrued in 1996.

In this appeal, the Estate asks this Court to vindicate a August, 2000, demand, which was made seventeen (17) years after Julio Lobo's death, for the same "return" of Chiriqui which Lobo first demanded thirty-two (32) years earlier, in 1968. Florida limitations law should not countenance such a result.

The Estate did not argue equitable estoppel at the Fourth District and does not do so here. Instead, it argues that its causes of action did not accrue until

1996. The Estate's argument, however, ignores the factual record that shows its claims accrued not later than 1972. It is also inconsistent with the pleadings before the trial court, which say its cause of action accrued in 1984. Moreover, it fails to acknowledge that even if the Estate's claims had accrued in April, 1996, they are still untimely and time-barred because they were not filed until August, 2000.

A. The Estate's claims are time-barred because Julio Lobo's causes of action accrued not later than 1972.

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